Dell Content Migrator for SharePoint ® 4.7

User Guide



© 2014 Dell Inc.

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.

This guide contains proprietary information protected by copyright. The software described in this guide is furnished under a software license or nondisclosure agreement. This software may be used or copied only in accordance with the terms of the applicable agreement. No part of this guide may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying and recording for any purpose other than the purchaser's personal use without the written permission of Dell Inc.

The information in this document is provided in connection with Dell products. No license, express or implied, by estoppel or otherwise, to any intellectual property right is granted by this document or in connection with the sale of Dell products. EXCEPT AS SET FORTH IN THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS AS SPECIFIED IN THE LICENSE AGREEMENT FOR THIS PRODUCT, DELL ASSUMES NO LIABILITY WHATSOEVER AND DISCLAIMS ANY EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY WARRANTY RELATING TO ITS PRODUCTS INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, OR NON-INFRINGEMENT. IN NO EVENT SHALL DELL BE LIABLE FOR ANY DIRECT, INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL, PUNITIVE, SPECIAL OR INCIDENTAL DAMAGES (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, DAMAGES FOR LOSS OF PROFITS, BUSINESS INTERRUPTION OR LOSS OF INFORMATION) ARISING OUT OF THE USE OR INABILITY TO USE THIS DOCUMENT, EVEN IF DELL HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. Dell makes no representations or warranties with respect to the accuracy or completeness of the contents of this document and reserves the right to make changes to specifications and product descriptions at any time without notice. Dell does not make any commitment to update the information contained in this document.

If you have any questions regarding your potential use of this material, contact:

Dell Inc. Attn: LEGAL Dept 5 Polaris Way Aliso Viejo, CA 92656

Refer to our Web site (software.dell.com) for regional and international office information.

Trademarks

Dell, the Dell logo are trademarks of Dell Inc. Microsoft, Active Directory, Internet Explorer, Office 365, OneDrive, SharePoint, Windows, Windows Server are either registered trademarks or trademarks of the Microsoft Corporation in the United States and/or other countries. Google is a trademark or registered trademark of Google Inc. Kerberos is a trademark of the Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Other trademarks and trade names may be used in this document to refer to either the entities claiming the marks and names or their products. Dell disclaims any proprietary interest in the marks and names of others.

Legend

CAUTION: A CAUTION icon indicates potential damage to hardware or loss of data if instructions are not followed.

WARNING: A WARNING icon indicates a potential for property damage, personal injury, or death.

(i) IMPORTANT NOTE, NOTE, TIP, MOBILE, or VIDEO: An information icon indicates supporting information.

Content Migrator for SharePoint User Guide Updated - September 2014 Software Version - 4.7

Contents

Introduction to Content Migrator for SharePoint	5
Required Permissions	6
SharePoint	6
Source SharePoint Sites	6
Target SharePoint Sites	6
File System	6
,	
Installation	7
Product Activation	Q
	0
	9
Working with Content Migrator for SharePoint	. 10
Interface Overview	10
Connecting to SharePoint	11
Connecting to OneDrive for Business	12
Kerberos Authentication	. 12
Claims Based Authentication	12
Password Manager	12
Using Site Collection Discovery	13
Navigator View	12
Contents Area	14
Connections Area	14
Migrating SharePoint Content	. 16
Migrating Individual Items/Documents	17
In Place Content Tagging	10
	10
Migrating Files to SharePoint	. 19
Migrating Google Drive Content to SharePoint	. 21
Connecting to Google Drive	21
Migrating Google Drive Content	21
Deleting Coogle Drive Concentions	
Metadata Mapping and Tagging	. 23
Data Analysis Mode	23
Properties Screen	
Content Type	
Tagging/Classification	1
Field Value Selection Screen	יידייי אר
	25
Migrating Created/Modified Metadata	. 26
Installing Extension Web Service	26
Dell Content Migrator for SharePoint 4.7 User Guide	3

Advanced Migration Features User/Group Mapping	. 28 28
Updating the Application	. 29
Appendix A: Profile Manager	. 30
Appendix B: Troubleshooting	. 32
Appendix C: Log Files Location	. 33
About Dell	. 34
Contacting Dell	34
Technical support resources	34

Introduction to Content Migrator for SharePoint

Content Migrator for SharePoint® is an easy-to-use tool that helps site owners and power users to:

- Move and classify their own content confidently and without posing risk to the environment, reducing the burden on IT
- Move content and version history in bulk quickly and easily to SharePoint, Office 365[™] and OneDrive[™] for Business, without data loss, downtime or business disruption
- Copy and reorganize content across SharePoint to simplify information access, optimize storage and meet the evolving needs of the business
- Preserve, reassign and add metadata to content as its migrated to make information easier to find and enhance its business value

5



2

Content Migrator for SharePoint is an easy to use tool for migrating documents, items and folders between sites within your SharePoint environment.

With Content Migrator for SharePoint, you can also easily import files from Windows® network drives and classify imported content to unlock the full potential of SharePoint search and navigation and move Google Drive contents to SharePoint.

SharePoint

The application connects to SharePoint sites as the currently logged on user by default. If authentication fails for the current user or he/she is not authorized to access the site, the application prompts for alternate credentials to connect. Stored network passwords in Windows can be used to access sites as a different user.

Permission requirements for hosted (e.g. SharePoint Online) sites are the same as for on-premises SharePoint 2007/2010/2013.

Source SharePoint Sites

SharePoint Version SharePoint 2003 SharePoint 2007/2010/2013 Required Permissions Member of the Designer site group Design (or higher)

Target SharePoint Sites

SharePoint Version SharePoint 2007 SharePoint 2010 SharePoint 2013 Required Permissions Full Control Full Control Full Control

File System

The application connects to local disks and mapped file shares as the currently logged on user. You can run the application as a different user (Run As) to access the local file system beyond your current permissions. Use stored network passwords in Windows to access remote file shares as a different user.

Source

Required Permissions Read Read (NTFS and share permissions)

Remote Shared Folders

Local File System

Dell Content Migrator for SharePoint 4.7 User Guide

Installation

3

Content Migrator for SharePoint is a client side application that can run on any Windows computer with Internet and network access to SharePoint servers.

Pre-Installation Checklist

Before installing Content Migrator for SharePoint, ensure your system meets the following minimum requirements:

- X86 1GHz or higher processor
- 1.5 GB of RAM
- 250MB of free disk space
- Windows XP, Windows Vista®, Windows 7, Windows 8, Windows Server® 2003, Windows Server 2008, Windows Server 2012, 32-bit or 64-bit.

To install the product:

- 1 Extract the contents of the download package to a folder on your computer.
- 2 Run DellCmSetup.exe or DellCmSetup64.exe depending on your operating system.
- 3 Accept the Dell Software license agreement.
- 4 Specify the installation folder.
- 5 Wait for the setup wizard to install Content Migrator on your computer.
- 6 Click Finish to complete the setup.



Product Activation

Content Migrator for SharePoint needs activation before you can use the product on your computer.

1 When you start the application the first time, the **Registration** window is shown prompting to activate the installation:

Figure	1: R	egistration	Window
---------------	------	-------------	--------

Activation Status	No License
Your Activation Code	
	Activate Automatically
Activate Manua	Ily (if Automatic Activation is not available)
License	

- 7 Enter your trial or purchased activation code.
- 8 If your computer is connected to the Internet via a proxy, click **Configure Proxy** and enter your proxy server settings.
- 9 Click Activate Automatically.

10 The activation status will read License is Valid and turn green after a successful activation:

Figure 2: Activation Status - License is Valid

🛟 Registration		×					
Activation Status	License is Valid						
Your Activation Code e01c1ffd-3a45-472e-a77c-4d3e9061d31f							
	Activate Automatically						
Activate Manua	lly (if Automatic Activation is not ava	ailable)					
License Product License Activation:e01clffd-3 Client:SPMigrationBe Seat:001DE0719F27,00 Sites:100000 Expiration:2011-09-01 Product:Migrator Modules:ChangeMar Size Limit:1 Nem Limit:1 Signature: MC0CFB4GIreLX76uF; L44653MGBKuxAdHE LICEN	ISE BEGIN Ba45-472e-a77c-4d3e9061d31f ta@quest.com 01C2334F904 L hager;Exchange;FileSystem;Office3651 289JEkFobWph66yAhUAjeUWup3Tj dE= ISE END	Enabled					

11 Click Complete Activation to proceed.

Offline Activation

If the computer you install the application on is not connected to the Internet, use the manual activation option:

- 1 Copy and paste the provided code into the Activation Code field.
- 2 Click the Activate Manually button. Copy the complete URL to a text file and save the text file that can be moved to another computer.
- 3 On a computer with Internet access, open a browser and paste the URL from the text file saved earlier. A license file will be generated from the Dell web site.
- 4 Copy the entire license, including the ----LICENSE BEGIN---- and ----LICENSE END---- lines into a text file that can be moved to the computer with the application installed.

(i) NOTE: The activated license is only valid on the machine where offline activation was initiated.

- 5 Paste the entire license from the text file into the License area of the Registration screen.
- 6 Close the Registration screen.

Working with Content Migrator for SharePoint

Interface Overview

The application window consists of three primary areas (the picture below represents the default arrangement):

- Navigator View
- Contents Area
- Connections Area

Figure 3: Content Migrator for SharePoint Interface

🛟 Content Migrator for SharePoint						
Home View Information M	anager File Manager Google Reports	Heln				
SharePoint Connect Clipboard	Minget Internating Bogs Teppins	нар				
🔇 Navigator 📄 🔩 🍸 🗖 🗖	Contents 🖾					9 🖄 🗶 🗐 🖉 🖉 🕫
▲ 😂 new 🔺	Just a team site > Shared Documents					Views: All Documents 🔻
a 📅 Subsites	Name	Type N	Modified	Modified By	ApproveIT	Original URL
http://mss2010.corp.spb.	D DestShare	Folder 2	012-06-25 04:44:21 PM	CORP\administrator		
AL CONTRACTOR	Ampacet.doc	Document 2	007-05-03 07:56:00 PM	CORP\administrator		http://mss2010.corp.spb.qsft/sites/auth401/justteam/Shared Documents/Ampacet.doc, http://
Just a team site	Arthur J. Gallagher and Codoc	Document 2	007-05-03 07:54:00 PM	CORP\administrator		http://mss2010.corp.spb.qsft/sites/auth401/justteam/Shared Documents/Arthur J. Gallagher an
Appouncements	CGU Insurance Business Sensices doc	Document 2	007-05-03 07:54:00 PM	CORP\administrator		http://mss2010.com/spb.qsrt/sites/auth401/justteam/shared Documents/DNW.doc, http://mss
> 📅 Calendar	Mary Kay.doc	Document 2	007-05-03 07:55:00 PM	System Account		http://mss2010.corp.spb.qsft/sites/auth401/justteam/Shared Documents/Corp.spb.qsft/sites/auth401/justteam/Shared Documents/Mary Kay.doc. http://
Class	Miami Dade County Public Schools.doc	Document 2	007-05-03 07:55:00 PM	System Account		http://mss2010.corp.spb.qsft/sites/auth401/justteam/Shared Documents/Miami Dade County F
DocSets	🔁 Statoil.pdf	Document 2	007-05-03 07:55:00 PM	System Account		http://mss2010.corp.spb.qsft/sites/auth401/justteam/Shared Documents/Statoil.pdf, http://ms
Form Templates						
Formulas						
⊳ Q. Links						
b 📓 Logos						
Shared Document						
> 🎽 Tasks						
Team Discussion						
< III +						
🖶 Connections 🛛 😂 🗖 🗖						
See Local Disk (C:)						
CD Drive (D:)						
🚼 Google Drive						
		_	III		_	•
Shared Documents						F @

Connecting to SharePoint

Connecting a SharePoint site enables you to copy/paste or drag and drop content (folders, documents and items) to and from the site.

To connect to a site:

1 Click the Connect To Site button on the Home ribbon:

Figure 4: Connect To Site Button



2 In the connection window, enter the name for the connection and the site URL.

By default, when the application connects to a site, it loads its contents (lists) but not sub-sites. The tool will load them when you expand the site tree.

You can choose to load sub-sites and their contents in the Connection Wizard using either of the following options:

- Load Entire Sub-Site Structure selecting this option will load the entire sub-site hierarchy below the current site. To expedite the loading process, no additional objects will be loaded into the sub-site. You may double-click any sub-site to load its objects individually.
- Load Entire Sub-Site Structure and Objects Selecting this option will load the entire sub-site hierarchy below the current site along with all their objects.
- 3 Content Migrator for SharePoint automatically detects the SharePoint authentication mechanism and your client environment. Depending on your configuration, you may be connected automatically or prompted for your credentials:
 - a If your SharePoint environment is using Integrated Windows Authentication and you are accessing this environment from a computer logged into the same domain, no credentials are required. Click the **Connect** button and you will be automatically logged in using the credentials of the currently logged in user.

(i) NOTE: If you want to use an alternate account to connect to a SharePoint site, set the Use local system credentials option to False in the Global Variables section of Profile Manager. After you restart the application, you will be prompted for credentials each time you connect to a new site.

- b If your SharePoint environment is using Integrated Windows Authentication and you are accessing this environment from a computer that is not logged into the same domain, specify your credentials and click **Connect**.
- c If your SharePoint environment is using Form Based Authentication, specify your user name, password and domain in the provided fields and click **Connect**.
- d If your SharePoint environment is using Kerberos Authentication, please refer to section Kerberos Authentication section for configuration instructions.
- e If your SharePoint environment is using Claims Based Authentication, please refer to the Claims Based Authentication section for detailed configuration instructions.
- 4 You can store your credentials for frequently accessed sites by using Password Manager. For detailed information, please refer to the Password Manager section.

- 5 If the SharePoint server you are connecting to is behind a proxy, check the **Use Proxy** option and click **Proxy Configuration** to enter or verify the proxy settings. You can use the **Import Settings** button to import the proxy server address and port from Internet Explorer.
- 6 Upon loading the site, it will be displayed in the Navigator View in the application main window.

Connecting to OneDrive for Business

To connect to OneDrive[™] for Business:

- 1 Login to a SharePoint Online site in the browser.
- 2 Click on the **OneDrive** link in the header at the top of an Office 365 page.
- 3 Copy the site URL from the browser's address line.
- 4 Open the application and specify the OneDrive URL in the Connect to SharePoint wizard.
 - () NOTE: Before connecting the OneDrive site of another user, make sure the OneDrive has been provisioned (i.e. the OneDrive site owner has visited it at least once) and you have administrator permissions granted either by the OneDrive site owner or using the Set-SPOUser commandlet (http://technet.microsoft.com/en-us/library/fp161375(v=office.15).aspx).

Kerberos Authentication

For detailed information on configuring the application to connect to SharePoint sites using Kerberos authentication, refer to http://communities.quest.com/docs/DOC-12844.

Claims Based Authentication

Content Migrator directly support Windows claims authentication and many third-party claims providers so that you can connect to SharePoint by entering your valid credentials in the application. In case you cannot connect to a SharePoint site using a custom claims provider, you can still connect using the browser-based authentication method as follows:

- 1 Go to Help> Profile Manager> Global Variables.
- 2 Set the Enable browser connect option to True.
- 3 Click Apply.
- 4 Close and restart the application.
- 5 Click the **Connect to Site** button on the ribbon.
- 6 Specify the connection name and the URL for your site. Click the **Finish** button. An authentication box will pop up.
- 7 Click the Claims button. A browser will pop up.
- 8 Enter your claims based credentials.
- (i) NOTE: If the site does not use claims based authentication, the connection will fail.

Password Manager

Password Manager connects you to your SharePoint sites automatically without entering a password for each connection when the application is restarted. The connection credentials are stored securely on the computer and protected with a master password.

When you start a migration, you will be prompted for your credentials. To launch Password Manager, click the icon. In the **Password Manager** window specify the master password, confirm it, and then click **OK**.

Figure 5: Password Manager

0	
Password Manager 8 Enter master password	
	OK Cancel

After you enter your credentials in the **Connect to SharePoint** window, click the password manager icon again, and then click **Connect**. Your credentials will be successfully stored.

During the next launch of the tool, when connecting to your site, you can click the Password Manager icon, enter your master password, and your credentials will be entered for you.

If you do not want Password Manager to store your credentials or you want to remove them from Password

Manager, click the *icon*. This icon will be displayed if you have logged into password manager correctly and have previously stored your credentials.

Using Site Collection Discovery

You can connect to a site collection by entering the site collection URL in the Site Address field of the SharePoint Connection Wizard as described above.

Alternatively, use the site collection discovery feature as described below.

() NOTE: Site collection discovery does not support SharePoint 2003.

- 1 In the SharePoint Connection Wizard, click Discover Site Collections.
- 2 In the Select Web Application window enter the Central Administration site URL and click Connect.
- 3 Select a web application from the list and click Next to display site collections in the web application.
- 4 On the Select Site Collection screen, select the site collection to connect to and click OK. You can use URL Search to filter the site collections list.
- 5 The URL of the site collection you selected will be inserted into the **Site Address** field of the SharePoint Connection Wizard.

Navigator View

The **Navigator** pane shows the connected SharePoint sites and allows you to browse the site hierarchy and site content in a tree view. SharePoint objects displayed in Navigator area are limited to sites, sub-sites, lists and libraries.

Figure 6: Navigator Pane



Double-clicking on any of the sites, lists or libraries will trigger the application to display the content for that object. In addition, a set of actions is available from right-click menus on sites, lists and libraries.

Contents Area

Figure 7: Contents Area

The **Contents** area displays the actual data inside a list or library. In addition to viewing list content, the user can copy list items or documents from this pane.

lame	Туре	Modified	Modified By	ApproveIT	Original URL
🛛 🗁 TestShare	Folder	2012-06-25 04:44:21 PM	CORP\administrator		
📹 120501_Gauntner9193TB_Alex.docx	Document	2012-05-03 06:31:42 PM	BUILTIN\administrators		
📹 Divide and Conquer.docx	Document	2012-04-27 03:54:44 PM	BUILTIN\administrators		
🗐 Quest Tools for SP2010 - MMSP vs Native.docx	Document	2012-04-28 07:37:30 PM	BUILTIN\administrators		
🔁 Ampacet.doc	Document	2007-05-03 07:56:00 PM	CORP\administrator		http://mss2010.corp.sp
🔁 Arthur J. Gallagher and Codoc	Document	2007-05-03 07:54:00 PM	CORP\administrator		http://mss2010.corp.sp
🔁 BMW.doc	Document	2007-05-03 07:54:00 PM	CORP\administrator		http://mss2010.corp.sp
🔁 CGI Insurance Business Services.doc	Document	2007-05-03 07:54:00 PM	CORP\administrator		http://mss2010.corp.sp
🔁 Mary Kay.doc	Document	2007-05-03 07:55:00 PM	System Account		http://mss2010.corp.sj
🔁 Miami Dade County Public Schools.doc	Document	2007-05-03 07:55:00 PM	System Account		http://mss2010.corp.sj
🏂 Statoil.pdf	Document	2007-05-03 07:55:00 PM	System Account		http://mss2010.corp.sj

Located in the top left-hand corner is a breadcrumb definition of the list or library, whose contents is displayed in the window. The top right corner contains a set of icons that represent available activities for the user. Most of these options can be exposed by right-clicking on items inside the window. The list of available activities will depend on what is selected in the window.

Connections Area

The Connections pane connects you to your file system, mapped disks and Google Drive.

Figure 8: Connections Area



Migrating SharePoint Content

Content Migrator for SharePoint allows you to migrate folders, items and documents between sites within your SharePoint.

Supported SharePoint Environments

- SharePoint Online (Office 365) or other hosted SharePoint services •
- SharePoint Server 2013 •
- SharePoint Foundation 2013 ٠
- SharePoint Server 2010 •
- SharePoint Foundation 2010 •
- Microsoft Office SharePoint Server 2007
- Windows SharePoint Services v3 •
- SharePoint Portal Server 2003 (read only)
- Windows SharePoint Services v2 (read only) •

6

Migrating Individual Items/Documents

With Content Migrator for SharePoint you can copy list items, documents and folders between SharePoint sites. During the item copy, you can control how item metadata is mapped to the target list, remap columns or tag the migrated items with arbitrary values.

- 1 Double-click the source list/library in **Navigator** to load its content into the **Contents** tab.
- 2 Select the items you want (use CTRL or SHIFT to mark multiple items) to copy and use either of the following options:
 - a Drag them to the target list.
 - b Copy to buffer (CTRL+C) and paste (CTRL+V) to the target list.
 - c Use the Copy To command on the ribbon.
- 3 In the Item Copy Wizard confirm the target location.
- 4 On the **Properties** screen review and adjust the metadata mapping if needed. Refer to Metadata Mapping and Tagging for detailed information on adjusting the metadata mapping.

Figure 9: Properties Screen

0					
Properties					
Specify target r	netadata				
Content Type:	Document				τ.
Name *	<copy from:="" name="" value=""></copy>				< .
Title	<copy from:="" title="" value=""></copy>				ر ۲
Created At	<copy at="" created="" from:="" value=""></copy>				ر ۳
Modified At	<copy at="" from:="" modified="" value=""></copy>				٠. ٣
Created By	<copy by="" created="" from:="" value=""></copy>				< *
Modified By	<copy by="" from:="" modified="" value=""></copy>				< +
				* indicates a n	equired field
Save Templat	Load Template				
		C De als		Finish	Canad
		< Васк	<u>N</u> ext >	Einisn	Cancel

- 5 On the Summary screen you can choose and configure item copy options:
 - **Delete item(s) from Source** This option allows you to remove item(s) from source when migration is completed.
 - Include sub-folders This option allows you to include all items and documents in sub-folders into migration.
 - **Overwrite if file exists** In a versioned library, selecting this option does not overwrite the files already in SharePoint. SharePoint will append these to the list as new versions.
 - **Remove folder structure** This option allows you to remove folders during migration. If this option is selected, the application will load all documents and items from all sub-folders into one selected location (list) in SharePoint.
 - Apply Filter This option allows you to include or exclude items by user defined criteria, such as date, size, file extension, file name, or file owner.

- Re-map Users This option allows you to map users between different domains or to change the user account in the target environment during copy. For more information, see User Mapping.
- (i) NOTE: The application includes a convenient tool to manage copy settings for various SharePoint objects using predefined profiles. See Appendix A. Profile Manager for more information.
- 6 Click Finish to start copying items.

In-Place Content Tagging

In addition to tagging/classifying items and documents on the fly when copying them to an existing list or document library, you can tag items in any list or library.

- 1 Go to the Information Manager tab of the ribbon.
- 2 Double-click the list/library in Navigator to load its content into the Contents tab.
- 3 Select the items you want to tag (use CTRL or SHIFT to mark multiple items).
- 4 Click Tag in the Documents/Items section of the ribbon.
- 5 On the **Properties** screen make the required changes. Refer to Metadata Mapping and Tagging for detailed information on adjusting the metadata mapping.

(i) NOTE: For lists with Content Approval enabled, the Approval Status field will be displayed. This field can be used to bulk approve/reject selected content.

- 6 On the Summary screen you can choose the following copy options:
 - Include sub-folders This option allows you to include all items and documents in sub-folders into migration.
 - Overwrite if file exists In a versioned library, selecting this option does not overwrite the files already in SharePoint. SharePoint will append these to the list as new versions.
- 7 Click Finish to start tagging.

Migrating Files to SharePoint

Content Migrator for SharePoint allows you to you move contents of your file shares to either on-premises or hosted SharePoint 2007/2010/2013.

Supported Sources

- Windows file servers
- Local disks

Supported SharePoint Targets

- SharePoint Online (Office 365) or other hosted SharePoint services
- SharePoint Server 2013 .
- SharePoint Foundation 2013
- SharePoint Server 2010 .
- SharePoint Foundation 2010
- Microsoft Office SharePoint Server 2007 .
- Windows SharePoint Services v3

Supported Objects

- Files and folders on file shares and local disks
- NOTE: The application supports migration only of network file shares mapped to the local drives, i.e. (\mathbf{i}) the Connections pane does not allow connecting to the shares via a UNC path and displays only local and mapped network drives.

To import files:

- 1 Locate the folder containing the files you want to migrate to SharePoint in the Connections pane and double-click it to load the folder contents into the Contents pane.
- 2 Mark the files you want to upload to SharePoint. You can select multiple files using CTRL or SHIFT.
- 3 Drag or copy/paste the selected files to the destination document library in the Navigator.
- 4 The File Copy Wizard starts.
- 5 On the Location step confirm the destination or select another site or list.
- On the **Properties** tab review and adjust the metadata mapping if needed. Refer to Metadata Mapping 6 and Tagging for detailed information on adjusting the metadata mapping.
 - NOTE: Metadata mapping supports only standard properties of files and Office documents. Mapping of other metadata formats (e.g. PDF) is not supported.
- 7 On the Summary screen you can choose from a number of available copy options:
 - Include sub-folders Selecting this option will all files in sub-folders into migration.

- **Overwrite if file exists** In a versioned library, selecting this option does not overwrite the files already in SharePoint. SharePoint will append these to the list as new versions.
- **Remove folder structure** This option allows you to remove folders during migration. If this option is selected, the application will load all files from all sub-folders into one selected location (list) in SharePoint.
- Apply Filter This option allows you to include or exclude items by user defined criteria, such as date, size, file extension, file name, or file owner.
- **Re-map Users** This option allows you to map users between different domains or to change the user account in the target environment during copy. For more information, see User Mapping.
- 8 Click Finish to start file upload.
- 9 When the task completes, you can see the upload log.

Migrating Google Drive Content to SharePoint

With Content Migrator for SharePoint you can quickly and easily migrate content of your Google Drive into your SharePoint environment preserving all valuable metadata.

Connecting to Google Drive

To connect to Google Drive:

- 1 Right-click Google Drive in the Connections pane and select Connect to Google. Alternatively, you can use the Google button on the Google ribbon.
- 2 In the appeared Connect to Google window, provide your Google account credentials.

When the connection is established, Google Drive content will be uploaded into the **Contents** pane on the right.

Migrating Google Drive Content

To migrate Google Drive content:

1 To migrate an entire Google Drive content, drag and drop (or Copy/Paste) the **My Drive** folder to the desired SharePoint list or library.

To migrate individual documents and folders, select the documents you want to upload to SharePoint (you can select multiple documents using CTRL or SHIFT) and drag or copy/paste the selection to the desired SharePoint list or library.

- 2 The Copy wizard starts. On the Location step, confirm or change the target site and list/library.
- 3 On the **Properties** step, review and adjust the metadata mapping if needed. Refer to Metadata Mapping and Tagging for detailed information on adjusting the metadata mapping.
- 4 On the **Summary** screen you can choose from a number of available copy options and select the format to which your Google Drive content should be converted.

For more information on user mapping, refer to User Mapping.

5 Click Finish to start the copy process.

Deleting Google Connections

To delete Google connections, right-click **Google Drive** in the **Connections** pane and select **Delete Connections**.

Metadata Mapping and Tagging

When you migrate SharePoint folders, documents, items or import, files with Content Migrator for SharePoint, the application automatically maps source metadata to columns in the target SharePoint list or library. This happens behind the scenes when you migrate data to a new SharePoint list. You can adjust the metadata mapping and classify/tag migrated items when you migrate to an existing list or document library. You can also classify/tag SharePoint items and documents in place.

This section describes the **Properties** screen that is displayed when you:

- Migrate individual SharePoint items to an existing SharePoint list (Refer to Migrating Items/Documents)
- Migrate files to an existing SharePoint document library (Refer to Migrating Files to SharePoint)
- Tag items in a SharePoint list (Refer to In-Place Content Tagging)

Data Analysis Mode

The application can optionally analyze the source items metadata to allow selecting from the existing values to be assigned rather than manually entering the value, which reduces error risk.

To enable Data Analysis Mode:

- 1 Double-click on any SharePoint list to open the Contents tab.
- 2 Click Turn ON Data Analysis (🔚) at the top of the tab.
- (i) NOTE: Data Analysis Mode may slow down the application depending on the number of selected items. Disable Data Analysis mode if you no longer need it.

To disable Data Analysis Mode:

- 1 Double-click on any SharePoint list to open the **Contents** tab.
- 2 Click Turn OFF Data Analysis (🔳) at the top of the tab

9

Properties Screen

This screen is used to tag the selected list of items:

Figure 10: Properties Screen

(>						•	×
	Properties							
	Specify target r	netadata						
ŀ								_
	Content Type:	Document						-
	Name *	<copy from:="" name="" value=""></copy>					*	Ŧ
	Title	<copy from:="" title="" value=""></copy>		 	 		•	Ŧ
	Created At	<copy at="" created="" from:="" value=""></copy>					*	Ŧ
	Modified At	<copy at="" from:="" modified="" value=""></copy>					•	Ŧ
	Created By	<copy by="" created="" from:="" value=""></copy>		 	 		•	Ŧ
	Modified By	<copy by="" from:="" modified="" value=""></copy>		 	 		•	Ŧ
					* indicat	er a requir	ad fir	Jd
					inuicad	es a requir	cum	-iu
	Save Templat	e Load Template						
			< Back	Next >	Finish	Ca	ncel	
			< Dack	<u>n</u> eve v	Tunyu		icei	

Content Type

By default, the wizard preloads the default content type for the destination SharePoint list/library. You may select an alternate content type by using the drop-down button. If a new content type is selected, the list of fields below will be updated correspondingly. The application will automatically attempt to match the fields from the source content type(s) to the destination. The **Keep Original** option allows you to retain existing content type(s) for selected items. This is useful when moving or copying a set of items from multiple content types.

(i) NOTE: Keep Original is only available when Data Analysis Mode is disabled.

Tagging/Classification

The wizard provides several methods for smart tagging, which is accomplished through the use of buttons located to the right of each field.

Left-Arrow Button (): one way to efficiently tag content is to group items that need to be tagged with a common value. For example, you may have a set of files that share a common project name or number, a choice, check box or lookup value, (Yes/No) or a common user name. The left-arrow button provides access to directly enter or modify the value of the field. The wizard will automatically provide controls corresponding to the type of field being worked on.

Down-Arrow Button (): pressing this button will generate the **Field Value Selection** window which is intended to give you more control over tagging. The functionality for this window is described below.

Plus Button (P): this button is only shown for multi-valued fields. When enabled any new values are appended to existing ones. When disabled, new values will replace existing ones.

(i) NOTE: Because the Name field in a Library must have a unique value, only the down-arrow is enabled. This allows the user to change the value of this field by mapping to another normalized field.

Save Template/Load Template: many classification operations are done over and over again for different sets of content. These buttons allow you to store and recall all the tagging parameters set in this window.

Field Value Selection Screen

Figure 11: Field Value Selection Screen

😒 Field Value Selection			
Select source for field: Name			
Keep Original Value>			
Set to Empty Value >			
Available Columps	~	Available Values	
Edder 1 in the File Path		Dept Budget.xls	
Ender 2 in the File Path		Meeting Notes.doc	
Folder 3 in the File Path		metavis logo2.JPG	
Folder 4 in the File Path			
Folder 5 in the File Path			
Folder 6 in the File Path			
Folder 7 in the File Path			
Eolder 8 in the File Path			
Elder 9 in the File Path			
B Modified At			
🔀 Modified By			
Name			
Criginal URL	~		
< Tal.	>	<	>
Chang Middan Fields		1 1	
Show Hidden Fields			
Value will be copied from column: Name			
			Coursel Colors
			Cancel

This screen is generated by clicking on the down-arrow next to a specific field in the Properties Screen. All actions within this screen only apply to that field (its name is displayed at the top of the window).

Keep Original Value - selecting this check box will negate any changes made in this screen.

Set to Empty Value - selecting this check box will remove any existing value from the field.

Auto Tag - selecting this check box will place an appropriate value in the field based on document analysis.

(i) NOTE: Auto Tag works with choice, person, group, lookup fields, and managed metadata, and can tag files imported from file systems, public folders and Google Documents.

Available Columns - selecting a field name from this list will designate it as the "source" and result in the metadata values from this field to be transferred to the destination for each item.

Show Hidden Fields - selecting this check box will display hidden fields in the Available Columns list.

Available Values - when a "source" field is selected from the Available Columns list, the metadata values for all the items are displayed in the Available Values list.

(i) NOTE: This option is only available if Data Analysis Mode is enabled.

You may select any of these specific values to be copied to all items involved in the operation. If none of the values is selected, the functionality will follow the logic described in **Available Columns**.

10

Migrating Created/Modified Metadata

In most cases, the application maintains the Created By/Modified By/Created At/Modified At properties of the migrated items and documents as long as the following prerequisites are met:

- User performing the migration must be a site owner (administrator)
- Author/editor user accounts must exist (usually in Active Directory®) and be enabled
- () NOTE: If the original author/editor cannot be resolved, the Created By and Modified By properties will be set either to the account under which the user connected to the target site or to the account specified in the Default User Account setting of Profile Manager (if any specified).

However, in certain situations, it is not possible to set the Created/Modified metadata using remote Web Services calls (including when the application is installed on a server in the target SharePoint farm):

- SharePoint 2007 as target:
 - Created/Modified can be maintained or reset to the current date and user depending on the service pack/patch combination on the target farm
- SharePoint 2010/2013 as target:
 - All patch levels both dates and author/editor are maintained
 - Lists/libraries with major and minor versions enabled Created/Modified is maintained for major versions, but not for minor versions

To facilitate retention of the Created/Modified properties in situations where setting them remotely is not possible, an extension SharePoint web service is provided to be deployed to the target SharePoint 2007/2010/2013 farm. After the service is installed, no further product configuration is necessary. The application will detect the service automatically and use it to set the Created/Modified metadata.

() NOTE: Installing the Extension web service allows you to preserve both Created/Modified and Content Approval Status properties for items and documents simultaneously when copying content between SharePoint locations. When the service is installed, the priority setting (Authorship) in Profile Manager is ignored. It is not recommended to change the default mappings for Created/Modified and Approval Status fields when the service is installed.

If the Extension web service cannot be installed, you can enable the Preserve Approval Status/Comments option in the Copy List or Copy Site section of Profile Manager to retain the content approval status for items and documents. Please note that the Preserve Approval Status/Comments option works only on non-versioned or major versioned lists and document libraries.

Installing Extension Web Service

Perform the following steps:

- 1 Remove the previous version (if installed).
- 2 Download the service installer available on the product download page and extract files to your hard drive.
- 3 Copy the folder corresponding to your target SharePoint version from the service download package to a front-end web server in your target SharePoint farm.
- 4 Run Setup.exe and follow the steps of the installation wizard.

- 5 Select web applications to deploy the service to.
- (i) NOTE: The extension service is provided as a SharePoint solution package. You can use the solution file to install and deploy the extension service to the farm using standard SharePoint tools.

11

Advanced Migration Features

User/Group Mapping

The user mapping feature enables migration of SharePoint users/groups and permissions between domains, which may include Active Directory, Microsoft LiveID, Forms and other authentication providers.

With this feature you can also map SharePoint security groups to Active Directory groups.

() NOTE: When a user cannot be created in the target environment, the application by default will replace that user account with the account of the user executing the operation. You may override this behavior by updating the **Default User Login** field in **Help>Profile Manager>Global Variables**.

To turn on the user mapping, check the **Re-map Users** option in the copy wizard and load a CSV file that maps source users to target users:

The CSV file should have a source to target entries for each user and group to map. You can also do a wildcard domain mapping as shown below:

Figure 12: Wildcard Domain Mapping

4	A	В
1	ACME-EAST*	ACME-WEST*
2	ACME-EAST\aklein	ACME-WEST\amy.klein
3	ACME-EAST\bwood	ACME-WEST\brian.wood
4	ACME-EAST\bwilson	ACME-WEST\bob.wilson
5	ACME-EAST\cphillips	ACME-WEST\disabled
6	ACME-EAST\csmith	ACME-WEST\chris.smith

(i)

TIP: The application provides the Site Users report that is a good starting point to create your mapping file:

- 1. Right-click on the source site and select Reports > Site Users Report (csv).
- 2. Specify the CSV file to export site users to.
- 3. When export completes, click **Open CSV**.
- 4. Map each source user to a target user account.

Updating the Application

Content Migrator for SharePoint includes an automatic update feature that notifies you about new updates available for the application. If you choose to apply the update, the update is downloaded and installed automatically.

(i) NOTE: Windows Vista/7 users may need to start the application as administrators to apply updates.

(i) NOTE: If you have the application installed on a computer with no Internet access, you can download the latest install package from the Dell web site and use it to update the application offline.

The application checks for available updates at startup, but you can also use the **Check for Updates** button on the **Help** ribbon:

Figure 13: Check for Updates Option



If there is a new update, you will be prompted to apply it.

If you see the following notification, close the application and start it as administrator to apply the update:

Figure 14: Restart the Application Notification



If no updates are found, you will see the following notification:

Figure 15: No Updates Found Notification



Appendix A: Profile Manager

Many options and choices have been included to enable fine control over specific operations. Upon installation, the options are pre-selected with the most common settings. Users always have the option to modify these settings prior to commencing an operation, but they are automatically returned to the default state the next time the operation is run.

In some cases, users need the ability to adjust these setting or create profiles that contain selections for common operations that are appropriate for them. Profile Manager available from the Help ribbon is intended for this purpose. You can alter default profiles or create new ones. The profiles may then be selected during the corresponding operations, allowing you to set all appropriate options at one time.

📑 Profile Manager	
Copy Items Copy List Copy Site Copy Permission Copy Permission Copy Content Upload/Copy Content Copy Invalid Characters Invalid Characters Invalid Name Endings	Copy Items Profile : Item-Default VUse as Default Create new Profile Delete
	Name Value
	Delete item(s) from Source
	Remove Folder Structure Copy Permissions V
	Include Versions Image: All Versions Image: All Versions Overwrite if file exists Image: All Versions Image: All Versions Incremental Copy with Filter from Image: Solution Solution Image: All Versions
	Defer Required Fields
	Re-Map Users 20 Remove WEB Elements
	Apply Reset to Default Values Close

Figure 16: Profile Manager

Selecting an operation displays a profile name along with a list of available options. By default, the selections in the profile correspond to "out-of-the-box" functionality.

- (i) NOTE: The options shown are unique to each operation and are not inherited to higher level operations (e.g. changes to item level profiles are not inherited by list or site level profiles).
- () NOTE: Copy Site and Copy List profiles are applicable to Content Migrator for SharePoint.
- (i) NOTE: Global Variables profile is primarily intended for diagnostic purposes and should not be modified unless advised to do so by Dell Support.

А

To select an alternate profile, use the provided drop-down field:

Figure 17: Profile Selection Field

0	- • •
Summary	
Content total summary	
Target Content Location	
Site URL: http://mss2010.corp.spb.qsft/sites/auth401	
List: Library	
Folder:	
2 documents will be undeted	
]
Profiles Item-Default	
Advanced Options	
Delete item(s) from Source	
✓ Include sub-folders	
🔲 Overwrite if file exists 🛛 🔞	
Remove Folder Structure	
Apply Filter 🕡	
🔲 Re-Map Users Load 🕡	
< Back Next > Finish	Cancel

() NOTE: Note that individual options may still be changed regardless of the selected profile.

Appendix B: Troubleshooting

When something is not working as expected in the application, the Dell Support team may request some information from you to help resolve the issue:

- Screenshots it is almost always easier to diagnose issues and collect information using pictures. Please try to send several screenshots with relevant data along with other logs.
- Log files the application creates two types of logs: user logs and systems logs.
 - User logs are generated for most operations and are displayed in the Log Viewer. All (or specific) items in the log can be selected and saved on your computer for later use.
 - System logs are generated behind the scenes and contain internal information that is intended for the engineering team. Besides the standard logging, there is also a Debug Mode logging procedure that collects significantly more information. **Debug Mode** can be enabled using a checkbox on the **Help** tab of the ribbon.
- (i) NOTE: Debug Mode should not be enabled by default as it collects a great deal of information and subsequently slows down the application. Remember to turn off Debug Mode after collecting extended logs.

The application contains a special utility for collecting and compressing system and user logs into a single zip file.

To collect the logs, follow this procedure:

- 1 Click Log Manager on the Help tab of the ribbon.
- 2 Click the ... button and select the location and file name for the zip file.
- 3 Click Save Logs or Save Environment (which collects additional data about your environment).
- 4 Send the zip file to Dell Support along with screenshots.

Appendix C: Log Files Location

After the tool is installed and started for the first time, a new directory is created that will store user specific information related to the application.

By default, this workspace will be created in the user's home directory. In Windows Vista and higher, the default workspace location is *C*:*Users*\%*username*%*Dell*. For earlier versions of Windows, it will be stored in the **Documents and Settings** directory.

To change the default workspace location, perform the following steps:

- 1 Close the application.
- 2 Create a new folder in your drive (e.g. C:\DellCM).
- 3 Go to %ProgramFiles%\Dell Software\Migration Solutions for SharePoint\dell\configuration and open the config.ini file for editing.
 - (i) NOTE: Please note:
 - 1. This folder is hidden, so you may need to show hidden files/folders in Folder Options.
 - 2. Use WordPad to open the file.
 - 3. You may need to start WordPad using the **Run as Administrator** option to overcome Windows security settings.
- 4 Edit the last line of this file. Change osgi.instance.area.default=@user.home/Dell to osgi.instance.area.default=c:/Dell (*note that the forward slash is used instead of back slash)
- 5 Save and close config.ini.
- 6 Start the application.

The workspace stores the following data:

- License Information
- The project directories that are displayed in the Navigator pane, which includes the cache of the site structure
- Log files (metadata)
- Temporary connection properties used by the tool
- Various settings and filters used throughout the application interface

The following types of logging information are stored within the workspace:

- User logs these logs are displayed after a Content Migrator operation is complete. They are stored as .xml files and located in the appLog directory.
- **Debug logs** these logs are created when the **Debug Mode** is activated. The .log, bak_0.log, etc. contain the operations that the tool is performing with enhanced logging. Lots of information is written when the **Debug Mode** is enabled which is helpful when investigating customer issues. Only 10 of these files are created, which means they will start to write over themselves if large operations are performed in the **Debug Mode**. Please perform as small a test as possible while this mode is enabled.
- Connection logs these logs are created when encountering connection issues and stored to the transport.log file.

About Dell

Dell listens to customers and delivers worldwide innovative technology, business solutions and services they trust and value. For more information, visit www.software.dell.com.

Contacting Dell

Technical Support: Online Support

Product Questions and Sales: (800) 306-9329

Email: info@software.dell.com

Technical support resources

Technical support is available to customers who have purchased Dell software with a valid maintenance contract and to customers who have trial versions. To access the Support Portal, go to http://software.dell.com/support/.

The Support Portal provides self-help tools you can use to solve problems quickly and independently, 24 hours a day, 365 days a year. In addition, the portal provides direct access to product support engineers through an online Service Request system.

The site enables you to:

- Create, update, and manage Service Requests (cases)
- View Knowledge Base articles
- Obtain product notifications
- Download software. For trial software, go to Trial Downloads.
- View how-to videos
- Engage in community discussions
- Chat with a support engineer